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Section two 

 

A. Reported Speech 

 

We use a 'reporting verb' like 'say' or 'tell'. (Click here for more 

about using 'say' and 'tell'.) If this verb is in the present tense, 

it's easy. We just put 'she says' and then the sentence: 

• Direct speech: I like ice cream. 

• Reported speech: She says (that) she likes ice cream. 

We don't need to change the tense, though probably we do need to 

change the 'person' from 'I' to 'she', for example. We also may 

need to change words like 'my' and 'your'. 

 

(As I'm sure you know, often, we can choose if we want to use 

'that' or not in English. I've put it in brackets () to show that it's 
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optional. It's exactly the same if you use 'that' or if you don't use 

'that'.) 

But, if the reporting verb is in the past tense, then usually we 

change the tenses in the reported speech: 

• Direct speech: I like ice cream. 

• Reported speech: She said (that) she liked ice cream. 

Tense 
Direct 

Speech 
Reported Speech 

present 

simple 
I like ice cream 

She said (that) she liked ice 

cream. 

present 

continuous 

I am living in 

London 

She said (that) she was living in 

London. 

past simple I bought a car 

She said (that) she had bought 

a car OR She said (that) she 

bought a car. 



past 

continuous 

I was walking 

along the street 

She said (that) she had been 

walking along the street. 

present 

perfect 

I haven't seen 

Julie 

She said (that) she hadn't seen 

Julie. 

past perfect* 

I had taken 

English lessons 

before 

She said (that) she had taken 

English lessons before. 

will 
I'll see you 

later 

She said (that) she would see 

me later. 

would* 
I would help, 

but..” 

She said (that) she would help 

but... 

can 
I can speak 

perfect English 

She said (that) she could speak 

perfect English. 

could* 

I could swim 

when I was 

four 

She said (that) she could swim 

when she was four. 



shall 
I shall come 

later 

She said (that) she would come 

later. 

should* 
I should call 

my mother 

She said (that) she should call 

her mother 

might* I might be late 
She said (that) she might be 

late 

must 
I must study at 

the weekend 

She said (that) she must study 

at the weekend OR She said she 

had to study at the weekend 

Occasionally, we don't need to change the present tense into the 

past if the information in direct speech is still true (but this is only 

for things which are general facts, and even then usually we like to 

change the tense): 

• Direct speech: The sky is blue. 

• Reported speech: She said (that) the sky is/was blue. 



Click here for a mixed tense exercise about practise 

reported statements. 

Click here for a list of all the reported speech exercises. 

Reported Questions 

So now you have no problem with making reported speech from 

positive and negative sentences. But how about questions? 

• Direct speech: Where do you live? 

How can we make the reported speech here? 

 

In fact, it's not so different from reported statements. The tense 

changes are the same, and we keep the question word. The very 

important thing though is that, once we tell the question to 

someone else, it isn't a question any more. So we need to change 

the grammar to a normal positive sentence. A bit confusing? 

Maybe this example will help: 

• Direct speech: Where do you live? 
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• Reported speech: She asked me where I lived. 

Do you see how I made it? The direct question is in the present 

simple tense. We make a present simple question with 'do' or 

'does' so I need to take that away. Then I need to change the verb 

to the past simple.  

 

Another example: 

• Direct speech: Where is Julie? 

• Reported speech: She asked me where Julie was. 

The direct question is the present simple of 'be'. We make the 

question form of the present simple of be by inverting (changing 

the position of)the subject and verb. So, we need to change them 

back before putting the verb into the past simple. 

Here are some more examples: 

Direct Question Reported Question 



Where is the Post Office, 

please? 

She asked me where the Post Office 

was. 

What are you doing? She asked me what I was doing. 

Who was that fantastic 

man? 

She asked me who that fantastic man 

had been. 

 

So much for 'wh' questions. But, what if you need to report a 'yes / 

no' question? We don't have any question words to help us. 

Instead, we use 'if': 

• Direct speech: Do you like chocolate? 

• Reported speech: She asked me if I liked chocolate. 

No problem? Here are a few more examples: 

 

Direct Question Reported Question 

Do you love me? He asked me if I loved him. 



Have you ever been to 

Mexico? 

She asked me if I had ever been to 

Mexico. 

Are you living here? She asked me if I was living here. 

 

 

Mixed Exercise 1 

Complete the sentences in reported speech. Note whether the sentence is 

a request, a statement or a question. 

1. He said, "I like this song." 

→ He said  

2. "Where is your sister?" she asked me. 

→ She asked me  

3. "I don't speak Italian," she said. 

→ She said  



4. "Say hello to Jim," they said. 

→ They asked me  

5. "The film began at seven o'clock," he said. 

→ He said  

6. "Don't play on the grass, boys," she said. 

→ She told the boys  

7. "Where have you spent your money?" she asked him. 

→ She asked him  

8. "I never make mistakes," he said. 

→ He said  

9. "Does she know Robert?" he wanted to know. 

→ He wanted to know  

10. "Don't try this at home," the stuntman told the audience. 

→ The stuntman advised the audience. 

 

 



B. English grammar – Indirect questions 

Form & meaning 

1. If we do not begin a question directly, but begin it with something 

like: Can you tell me…? Do you know…? I wonder if…? The word 

order is the same as in an affirmative statement. 

• Direct question: What is he doing? 

Indirect question: Do you know what he is doing? 

• Direct question: Where have they been? 

Indirect question: I wonder where they have been? 

2. If the direct question contains the auxiliary DO, we omit it in the 

indirect question. 

• Direct question: What do you want? 

Indirect question: Can you tell me what you want? 

• Direct question: When did she leave? 

Indirect question: Do you know when she left? 



3. In yes/no questions, if or whether is used. The word order is the same 

as in reported questions. 

• Direct question: Have you seen my dog? 

Indirect question: Could you tell me if you have seen my dog? 

4. 'Yes / no' questions for tenses with inversion: 

 

Verb Tense Direct Question Indirect Question 

Present simple 

with 'be' 

Is he Spanish? 

Can you tell me if he is 

Spanish? 

Present 

continuous 

Is the restaurant closing 

now? 

Can you tell me if the 

restaurant is closing now? 

Past simple 

with 'be' 

Was he late for the 

meeting? 

Can you tell me if he was 

late for the meeting? 

Past 

continuous 

Were you watching TV 

at 3pm? 

Can you tell me if you were 

watching TV at 3pm? 
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Present perfect 

Has Lucy been to 

Mexico? 

Can you tell me if Lucy has 

been to Mexico? 

Present perfect 

continuous 

Has she been living 

here long? 

Can you tell me if she has 

been living here long? 

Past perfect 

Had she found this job 

when she moved here? 

Can you tell me if she had 

found this job when she 

moved here? 

Past perfect 

continuous 

Had she been living 

here long when she met 

you? 

Can you tell me if she had 

been living here long when 

she met you? 

Future simple 

with 'will' 

Will she start her new 

job next week? 

Can you tell me if she will 

start her new job next week? 

Future simple 

with 'going to' 

Is it going to rain later? 

Can you tell me if it is going 

to rain later? 

Future 

continuous 

Will Lisa be meeting 

the boss later? 

Can you tell me if Lisa will 

be meeting the boss later? 



Future perfect 

Will he have finished 

the report by tonight? 

Can you tell me if he will 

have finished the report by 

tonight? 

Future perfect 

continuous 

Will he have been 

studying French for 

twenty years when he 

retires? 

Can you tell me if he will 

have been studying French 

for twenty years when he 

retires? 

Modal verbs Should we start now? 

Can you tell me if we 

should start now? 

5.  

'Yes / no' questions with tenses that use 'do / does / did': 

Sometimes you want to make an indirect question using the present simple 

of any verb except 'be' or the past simple of any verb except 'be'. These tense 

make direct questions by using 'do / does / did'. When we want to make 

indirect 'yes / no' questions using these tenses, we need 'if' and we don't 

need 'do / does / did'. 

 

Verb Tense Direct Question Indirect Question 



Present simple with any 

verb except 'be' 

Does David live in 

London? 

Can you tell me if David lives in 

London? 

Past simple with any verb 

except 'be' 

Did Amanda call John 

yesterday? 

Can you tell me if Amanda called 

John yesterday? 

6. 'Wh' Questions 

 

In the same way as with reported 'wh' questions, we use the 

question word and the word order of a normal positive 

sentence to make indirect 'wh' questions. We don't need to 

use inversion. Again, we also don't usually need to 'backshift' 

(change the tense of the verb) as we do with reported 

questions. 

 

To change a direct question to an indirect question for tenses 

that make questions using inversion, you just add 'if' and 

change the word order back to a normal positive sentence. 

 

'Wh' questions for tenses with inversion: 

 



Verb Tense Direct Question Indirect Question 

Present 

simple with 

'be' 

Why is he unhappy? 
Can you tell me why he 

is unhappy? 

Present 

continuous 

When is the 

restaurant closing? 

Can you tell me when 

the restaurant is 

closing? 

Past simple 

with 'be' 

Why was he late for 

the meeting? 

Can you tell me why he 

was late for the 

meeting? 

Past 

continuous 

What were you 

doing at 3pm? 

Can you tell me what 

you were doing at 3pm? 

Present 

perfect 

Where has Lucy 

been? 

Can you tell me where 

Lucy has been? 



Present 

perfect 

continuous 

How long has she 

been living here? 

Can you tell me how 

long she has been living 

here? 

Past perfect 

Why had she quit 

her job before she 

moved here? 

Can you tell me why she 

had quit her job before 

she moved here? 

Past perfect 

continuous 

How long had she 

been living here 

when she met you? 

Can you tell me how 

long she had been living 

here when she met you? 

Future simple 

with 'will' 

When will she start 

her new job? 

Can you tell me when 

she will start her new 

job? 

Future simple 

with 'going to' 

When is it going to 

rain? 

Can you tell me when it 

is going to rain? 



Future 

continuous 

What time will Lisa 

be meeting the boss? 

Can you tell me what 

time Lisa will be 

meeting the boss? 

Future perfect 
When will he have 

finished the report? 

Can you tell me when he 

will have finished the 

report? 

Future perfect 

continuous 

How long will he 

have been studying 

French when he 

retires? 

Can you tell me how 

long he will have been 

studying French when 

he retires? 

Modal verbs 
What should we do 

now? 

Can you tell me what we 

should do now? 

7.  

'Wh' questions for tenses with 'do / does / did': 

 

Sometimes you want to make an indirect 'wh' question using the present simple 

of any verb except 'be' or the past simple of any verb except 'be'. Usually these 

tenses make questions by using 'do / does / did'. However, when we want to 

make indirect 'wh' questions using these tenses, we don't need 'do / does / did'. 



Instead, we use a question word and then normal positive sentence word order. 

 

Verb Tense Direct Question Indirect Question 

Present simple with 

any verb except 'be' 
Where does David live? 

Can you tell me where David 

lives? 

Past simple with any 

verb except 'be' 

Why did Amanda call 

John yesterday? 

Can you tell me why Amanda 

called John yesterday? 

 

1) Where does she play tennis? 

 

[ . ] 

2) Does he live in Paris? 

 

[ . ] 

3) Is she hungry? 

 

[ . ] 



4) What is this? 

 

[ . ] 

5) Do they work in Canada? 

 

[ . ] 

6) When do John and Luke meet? 

 

[ . ] 

7) Is he a lawyer? 

 

[ . ] 

8) When is the party? 

 

[ . ] 



9) Do they often go out? 

 

[ . ] 

10) What does he do at the weekend? 

 

[ . ] 

11) Are the children on holiday this week? 

 

[ . ] 

12) Who is she? 

 

[ . ] 

13) Why do you like travelling so much? 

 

[ . ] 



14) Does Lizzie like ice cream? 

 

[ . ] 

15) Are they from Chile? 

 

[ . ] 

16) Where is the station? 

 

[ . ] 

17) Where do you study Chinese? 

 

[ . ] 

18) Where is the nearest supermarket? 

 

[ . ] 



19) Do you drink coffee? 

 

[ . ] 

20) Is Richard always late? 

 

 

 

 

 

C. Tag questions 

 

 

Tag questions (or question tags) turn a statement into a question. They are often used 

for checking information that we think we know is true. 

Tag questions are made using an auxiliary verb (for example: be or have) and a subject 

pronoun (for example: I, you, she). Negative question tags are usually contracted: It's 

warm today, isn't it (not 'is it not') 



Usually if the main clause is positive, the question tag is negative, and if the main 

clause is negative, it's positive. For example: It's cold (positive), isn't it (negative)? 

And: It isn't cold (negative), is it (positive)? 

If the main clause has an auxiliary verb in it, you use the same verb in the tag question. 

If there is no auxiliary verb (in the present simple and past simple) use do / does / 

did (just like when you make a normal question). 

There is one weird exception: the question tag after I am is aren't I. 

For example: I'm in charge of the food, aren't I? 

Postive sentences, with negative tags 

Present simple 'be'  She's Italian, isn't she? 

Present simple other verbs  They live in London, don't they? 

Present continuous We're working tomorrow, aren't we? 

Past simple 'be' It was cold yesterday, wasn't it? 

Past simple other verbs  He went to the party last night, didn't he? 

Past continuous We were waiting at the station, weren't we? 

Present perfect  They've been to Japan, haven't they? 

Present perfect continuous  She's been studying a lot recently, hasn't she? 

Past perfect He had forgotten his wallet, hadn't he? 
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Past perfect continuous We'd been working, hadn't we? 

Future simple She'll come at six, won't she? 

Future continuous They'll be arriving soon, won't they? 

Future perfect  They'll have finished before nine, won't they? 

Future perfect continuous She'll have been cooking all day, won't she? 

Modals He can help, can't he? 

Modals John must stay, mustn't he? 

Negative sentences, with positive tags 

Present simple 'be'  We aren't late, are we? 

Present simple other verbs  She doesn't have any children, does she? 

Present continuous The bus isn't coming, is it? 

Past simple 'be' She wasn't at home yesterday, was she? 

Past simple other verbs  They didn't go out last Sunday, did they? 

Past continuous You weren't sleeping, were you? 

Present perfect  She hasn't eaten all the cake, has she? 

Present perfect continuous  He hasn't been running in this weather, has he? 

Past perfect We hadn't been to London before, had we? 

Past perfect continuous You hadn't been sleeping, had you? 
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Future simple They won't be late, will they? 

Future continuous He won't be studying tonight, will he? 

Future perfect  She won't have left work before six, will she? 

Future perfect continuous He won't have been travelling all day, will he? 

Modals She can't speak Arabic, can she? 

Modals They mustn't come early, must they? 

 

Drills  

1. She is collecting stickers, ? 

2. We often watch TV in the afternoon, ? 

3. You have cleaned your bike, ? 

4. John and Max don't like math, ? 

5. Peter played handball yesterday, ? 

6. They are going home from school, ? 

7. Mary didn't do her homework last Monday, ? 

8. He could have bought a new car, ? 
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9. Kevin will come tonight, ? 

 

 

 

 

D. Passive Voice 

Tense Active Passive 

present simple I make a cake. A cake is made (by me). 

present continuous I am making a cake. A cake is being made (by me). 

past simple I made a cake. A cake was made (by me). 

past continuous I was making a cake. A cake was being made (by me). 

present perfect I have made a cake. A cake has been made (by me). 

Check
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pres. perf. 

continuous 

I have been making a 

cake. 

A cake has been being 

made (by me). 

past perfect I had made a cake. A cake had been made (by me). 

future simple I will make a cake. A cake will be made (by me). 

future perfect 

I will have made a 

cake. 

A cake will have been made (by 

me). 

 

Examples 

• Active: He gave me the book / He gave the book to me. 

You can choose either of the two objects to be the subject of the passive 

sentence. 

• Passive: I was given the book (by him)/ The book was given to me (by 

him). 

Other verbs like this are: ask, offer, teach, tell, lend, promise, sell, throw.  

 

• Active: I thought that Mary had kissed John. 

• Passive: I thought that John had been kissed by Mary. 
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• Active: He knew that people had built the church in 1915. 

• Passive: He knew that the church had been built in 1915. 

 

Drills  

Rewrite the sentences in passive voice. 

1. John collects money. -  

2. Anna opened the window. -  

3. We have done our homework. -  

4. I will ask a question. -  

5. He can cut out the picture. -  

6. The sheep ate a lot. -  

7. We do not clean our rooms. -  

8. William will not repair the car. -  

9. Did Sue draw this circle? -  

10. Could you feed the dog? -  

 

 



1) The Government is planning a new road near my house. 

 

[ . ] 

2) My grandfather built this house in 1943. 

 

[ . ] 

3) Picasso was painting Guernica at that time. 

 

[ . ] 

4) The cleaner has cleaned the office. 

 

[ . ] 

5) He had written three books before 1867. 

 

[ . ] 



6) John will tell you later. 

 

[ . ] 

7) By this time tomorrow we will have signed the deal. 

 

[ . ] 

8) Somebody should do the work. 

 

[ . ] 

9) The traffic might have delayed Jimmy. 

 

[ . ] 

10) People speak Portuguese in Brazil. 

 

[ . ] 



11) Everybody loves Mr Brown. 

 

[ . ] 

12) They are building a new stadium near the station. 

 

[ . ] 

13) The wolf ate the princess. 

 

[ . ] 

14) At six o'clock someone was telling a story. 

 

[ . ] 

15) Somebody has drunk all the milk! 

 

[ . ] 



16) I had cleaned all the windows before the storm. 

 

[ . ] 

17) A workman will repair the computer tomorrow. 

 

[ . ] 

18) By next year the students will have studied the passive. 

 

[ . ] 

19) James might cook dinner. 

 

[ . ] 

20) Somebody must have taken my wallet. 

 

[ . ] 

 



E. Comparative and superlative adjectives 

How to form comparative and superlative adjectives 

We usually add –er and –est to one-syllable words to make comparatives 

and superlatives: 

old older oldest 

long longer longest 

If an adjective ends in –e, we add –r or –st: 

nice nicer nicest 

large larger largest 

If an adjective ends in a vowel and a consonant, we double the 

consonant: 



big bigger biggest 

fat fatter fattest 

If an adjective ends in a consonant and –y, we change –y to –i and add –

er or –est: 

happy happier happiest 

silly sillier silliest 

We use more and most to make comparatives and superlatives for most two 

syllable adjectives and for all adjectives with three or more syllables: 

careful more careful  most careful 

interesting more interesting  most interesting 

However, with these common two-syllable adjectives, you 

can either add –er/–r and –est/–st or use more and most: 



common 

cruel 

gentle 

handsome 

likely 

narrow 

pleasant 

polite 

simple 

stupid 

He is certainly handsomer than his brother. 

His brother is handsome, but he is more handsome. 

She is one of the politest people I have ever met. 

She is the most polite person I have ever met. 

The adjectives good, bad and far have irregular comparatives and 

superlatives: 

good better best 

bad worse worst 

far farther/further  farthest/furthest 

 

 



Drills  

COMPARATIVE - SUPERLATIVE 

Fill in the gaps with the comparative form of the adjectives 

given. 

1.  A rock is   than a leaf. (heavy) 

2. Our house is than yours. (big) 

3. The princess is than the witch. (beautiful) 

4. Tom is a student than Mary. (good) 

5. Bicycles are than motorbikes. (safe) 

6. July is than January. (hot) 

7. A lion is than a cat. (dangerous) 

8. Helen is  than Mary. (happy) 

9. Computers are  than telephones. (expensive) 



10. I think golf is than football. (boring) 

  

Fill in the gaps with the superlative form of the adjectives given. 

  

1. It is the shop in town. (large) 

2. Monday is the day of the week. (bad) 

3. Ben was the person in his family. (noisy) 

4. Sam is the in the class. (popular) 

5. Which is the subject at school? (difficult) 

6. Jim is the player in the football team. (good) 

7. Elephants are the animals. (heavy) 

8. Let's pick the apple of the tree. (big) 

9. Mary is the girl in the class. (thin) 

10. That is the sofa in our house. (comfortable) 



Fill in the gaps with the comparative or the superlative form of 

the adjectives given. 

1. This armchair is than the old one. (comfortable) 

2. Trains are than aeroplanes. (slow) 

3. I bought the  souvenir I could afford. (expensive) 

4. In this classroom there are girls than boys. (many) 

5. Ann is the child in the family. (young) 

6. That TV set is the  of all. (cheap) 

7. You are here than there. (safe) 

8. Fifi is than Kate. (pretty) 

9. This is the film i have ever seen. (exciting) 

10. Tim is  than Peter. (talented) 

 

 ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------ 



F. Conditional sentences 

Conditional sentences are sometimes confusing for learners of English 

as a second language. 

Watch out: 

1. Which type of conditional sentences is it? 

2. Where is the if-clause (e.g. at the beginning or at the end of the 

conditional sentence)? 

There are three types of conditional sentences. 

type condition 

I condition possible to fulfill 

II condition in theory possible to fulfill 



type condition 

III condition not possible to fulfill (too late) 

1. Form 

type if-clause main clause 

I Simple Present will-future or (Modal + infinitive) 

II Simple Past would + infinitive * 

III Past Perfect would + have + past participle * 



2. Examples (if-clause at the beginning) 

type if clause main clause 

I If I study, I will pass the exam. 

II If I studied, I would pass the exam. 

III If I had studied, I would have passed the exam. 

3. Examples (if-clause at the end) 

type main clause if-clause 

I I will pass the exam if I study. 

II I would pass the exam if I studied. 



type main clause if-clause 

III I would have passed the exam if I had studied. 

4. Examples (affirmative and negative sentences) 

type   Examples 

    long forms short/contracted forms 

I 

+ 

If I study, I will pass the 

exam. 

If I study, I'll pass the 

exam. 

- 
If I study, I will not 

fail the exam. 

If I study, I won't fail the 

exam. 



type   Examples 

    long forms short/contracted forms 

If I do not study, I will 

fail the exam. 

If I don't study, I'll fail the 

exam. 

II 

+ 

If I studied, I would 

pass the exam. 

If I studied, I'd pass the 

exam. 

- 

If I studied, I would not 

fail the exam. 

If I did not study, 

I would fail the exam. 

If I studied, I wouldn't 

fail the exam. 

If I didn't study, I'd fail the 

exam. 



type   Examples 

    long forms short/contracted forms 

III 

+ 

If I had studied, I would 

have passed the exam. 

If I'd studied, I'd have 

passed the exam. 

- 

If I had studied, I would 

not have failed the 

exam. 

If I had not studied, 

I would have failed the 

exam. 

If I'd studied, I wouldn't 

have failed the exam. 

If I hadn't studied, I'd 

have failed the exam. 

 

 

 



Drills  

1. If I were you, I ............................... him right away. 

➢ will dismiss 

➢ would dismiss 

➢ would have dismissed 

2. If I ...................... you, I wouldn't do this. 

➢ am 

➢ was 

➢ were 

Either was or were 

3. If I had known, I ................................... 

➢ will help 

➢ would help 

➢ would have helped 

4. Millions of people will die if they ........................ aid soon. 

don't receive 



won't receive 

wouldn't receive 

5. ........................ you to lose your job, how would you feel? 

➢ Were 

➢ Had 

➢ Will 

➢ Should 

6. If I had been there, I ................................. have helped. 

➢ would 

➢ could 

➢ Either could be used here. 

7. If he ....................... in time, he would get the job. 

➢ apply 

➢ applied 

➢ had applied 



8. If the boss ........................ now, we will be in trouble. 

➢ arrives 

➢ arrived 

➢ had arrived 

9. If I liked it, I ......................... it. 

➢ will buy 

➢ would buy 

➢ would have bought 

10. If she is late, we ....................... without her. 

➢ will leave 

➢ would leave 

➢ would have left 

11. Should you see her, ..............................her to get in touch with me? 

➢ will you ask 

➢ would you ask 

➢ would you have asked 



12. If he should be late, we ............................. to start without him. 

➢ will have to 

➢ would have to 

➢ Either could be used here 

Answers 

1. If I were you, I would dismiss him right away. 

2. If I were you, I wouldn’t do this. 

3. If I had known, I would have helped. 

4. Millions of people will die if they don’t receive aid soon. 

5. Were you to lose your job, how would you feel? 

6. If I had been there, I would / could have helped. 

7. If he applied in time, he would get the job. 

8. If the boss arrives now, we will be in trouble. 

9. If I liked it, I would buy it. 

10. If she is late, we will leave without her. 

11. Should you see her, will you ask her to get in touch with me? 

12. If he should be late, we will have to start without him. 
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